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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

Ricardo Rosario,
Petitioner,

CIVIL ACTION NO.

V. 3:09-cv-1538 (SRU)

United States of America,
Respondent.

RULING ONMOTION TO VACATE, SET ASIDE, OR CORRECT SENTENCE

The petitioner, Ricardo Rosario, appeaning se, seeks to vacate and correct his
sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255. Rosswgonfined at the Yazoo City Federal
Correctional Complex in Yazoo City, Mississippi, having been convicted by a jury and
sentenced to 240 months’ imprisonment for corgyito possess with inteto distribute more
than 1000 grams of heroin in violation2f U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1), 841(b)(1)(A), and 84#e
JudgmentPnited Statesv. Rosario, No. 3:00-cr-00227-SRU-14 (do.1119). Rosario’s section
2225 petition, filed on September 28, 2009, rameverous grounds for relief, stemming from
assertions that his attorneyndered constitutionally ineffecevassistance, both at trial and on
appeal, and that the sentence imposed by the court was unconstifutieaallotion to Vacate,
Set Aside or Correct Sentence (doc. # 1). Rosaquests that this cdwacate his sentence of
240 months’ imprisonment and impose the méoryaminimum sentence of 120 months.

On May 10, 2010, Rosario moved to amersl2#55 petition (doc. # 11), to add a ground
related to then-pending changes to the SemgrGuidelines, which went into effect on
November 1, 2010. | granted that motion on May 25, 2010 (doc. # 12). On July 15, 2013,

Rosario again moved to amend his petition (d084), seeking to bolster his ineffective

! In Rosario’s original section 2255 motion he lays out eleven distinct grounds for relief, some of which are
duplicative.
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assistance of counsel claims and add claims ¢hghis right to a Speedirial was violated; (2)
his Sixth Amendment right to counsel was violatal] (3) his right to a jury trial was violated,
pursuant tAlleyne v. United Sates, 133 S. Ct. 2151 (2013), which rergs the jury, not the trial
judge, to find facts that trigger ordrease a mandatory minimum sentence.

Rosario’s motion to amend (doc. #34) isSARED. For the reasons discussed below,
however, his section 225fetition is DENIED.
l. Background

A. The Offense Conduct

Frank Estrada and his criminal assaesdbegan running a violent drug trafficking
organization within the city of Bridgepo&onnecticut in the lat&980s. Beginning in
approximately 1995, upon his release fromespatson, Estrada expded his narcotics
trafficking organization and disbuted large, wholesale quantgief heroin and crack cocaine
for street-level distributiothroughout the cities of Bigeport, New Haven and Meriden,
Connecticut. In January 2002, Estrada pleaded guiltyurteen federalharges relating to his
drug trafficking organization and entered iatgooperation agreement with the government.
Estrada then testified against Rosand his co-defendants at trial.

Rosario grew up in the P.T. Barnum hagsproject, which became one of the Estrada
organization’s main retail outlets for heroin amelck cocaine. Estrada testified that he met
Rosario through one of his lieutenants and wittin a couple of months, Rosario began
packaging heroin for the organization. Estradthir testified that fearms were used in
connection with the conspiracy and that he Basario in possession ofdéarms. According to
Estrada, Rosario kept one of Estrada’s revolvehssatesidence. Rosaralso allegedly showed

Estrada a firearm he had purchased — a Glock 9netiéir. Rosario admitted that firearms were



present that the heroin bagging s&ss he attended, but deniea@tlany of the firearms belonged
to him.

Estrada testified that Rosario played a sigaifi role in the heroin packaging sessions
and that his responsibility increased overdi Other cooperatingitnesses corroborated
Estrada’s testimony. Rosario was identified a&s“thstest spooner,” who provided guidance to
others on how to more efficiently package herditoreover, witness Hector Cruz participated
in a controlled buy of heroin, in which Rosasgdingerprints were found on the packaging of the
purchased drugs.

B. Procedural History

In June 2001, a third supeding indictment charged Ragawith, among other things,
conspiracy to possess with intent to distribut®Q,§rams or more of heroin, in violation of 21
U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1), 841(b)(R) and 846. Rosario was tried over several weeks in March
2002. On April 2, 2002, the jury convicted $awio of violating sctions 841(a)(1) and
841(b)(1)(A). The jury completeal verdict form in which it indicated a unanimous finding that
Rosario’s participation in the heroin congjgy involved 1,000 grams or more of heroin.

At sentencing on September 27, 2002, | detezththat Rosario’s base offense level was
thirty-six and found thaa two-point firearm enhancementswaarranted, yielding a total offense
level of thirty-eight. | further found that Ragawas ineligible for safety-valve relief under
U.S.S.G. 88 2D1.1(b)(6) and 5C1.2(a)(2), becauggobsessed a firearm @onnection with the
offense of conviction, and denied credit for acceptance of responsibility under U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1,
because Rosario put the government to its burdenoof at trial. However, | declined to apply
a proposed three-level upward adjustmerRasario’s base offense level (the “role

enhancement”), finding that Rosadid not play a supervisory roie the organization. | also



departed downward to criminal history categorgfter finding that crinmal history category Il
— the category in which Rosario’s criminal restplaced him — overstated the seriousness of his
criminal history.

Based on a total offense level of thirtyt@ignd a criminal histy category of I,

Rosario’s resulting Guidelinesnge was 235 to 293 months’ immisment. | sentenced Rosario
to a term of 240 months’ imprisonment, followedaien-year term of supervised release. On
appeal, the Second Circuit affieth the denial of credit facceptance of sponsibility under
U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1, but remanded for proceedings pursubmital Sates v. Crosby, 397 F.3d

103 (2d Cir. 2005), and for further findings on Rusa eligibility for relief under the “safety
valve” provision of U.S.S.G88 2D1.1(b)(6) and 5C1.2(a).

On November 30, 2006, | determined that Rasaas ineligible for safety-valve relief,
and that | would not have imposed a nontrividlifferent sentence under an advisory Guidelines
scheme. Specifically, | found thRbsario possessed a firearnconnection with the offense of
conviction and that his prior juvdaiconviction resulted in thregiminal history points, placing
him in a criminal history category Il before Imted downward. Rosario again filed a notice of
appeal on December 5, 2006.

On his second appeal, Rosario challengedi¢iugsion that he was ineligible for safety-
valve relief, arguing that | sorrectly found that he possedseegun in connection with the
offense and improperly relied on the testimony@nk Estrada in coming to that conclusion.
Rosario also disputed the finditigat he had more than one criminal history point. On May 30,
2008, the Second Circuit issued a dami rejecting Rosario’s appedlinited Sates v. Rosario,

280 F. App’x 78 (2d Cir. 2008%ert. denied, 555 U.S. 937 (2008). On or about August 28,

2008, Rosario submitted a petition for a writ of cedioto the United States Supreme Court.



The Supreme Court deniedatipetition on October 6, 2008.
. Standard of Review

In order to support a claim for relief undeaction 2255, a petitionenust establish that
his “sentence was imposed in violation of @enstitution or Laws of the United States.” 28
U.S.C. § 2255. “As a general rule, ‘reliefagailable under § 2255 only for a constitutional
error, a lack of jurisdiction ithe sentencing court, or arr@ of law that constitutes a
fundamental defect which inherently resutt®s complete miscarriage of justice Napoli v.
United Sates, 32 F.3d 31, 35 (2d Cir. 1994) (quotikigrdy v. United Sates, 878 F.2d 94, 97 (2d
Cir. 1989)). The standard is a high one; constitutional mistakes will not be fixed through a writ
of habeas corpus unless they have had a “sutatand injurious effectthat results in “actual
prejudice.” Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 623 (1993) (intex citations omitted).

It is well established that a federalganer may not use a section 2255 petition to
relitigate questions that were resolved during a direct apfealJnited Satesv. Sanin, 252
F.3d 79, 83 (2d Cir. 2001Riascos-Prado v. United Sates, 66 F.3d 30, 33 (2d Cir. 1995). A
petitioner generally may not rais claim on habeas reviewhi did not properly raise it on
direct review unless he is abledbow “cause and actual prejudice&®e Reed v. Farley, 512
U.S. 339, 354 (1994))nited States v. Munoz, 143 F.3d 632, 637 (2d Cir. 1998) (“A motion
under 8§ 2255 is not a substitute for an appeakl’petitioner may raise a claim of ineffective
assistance of counsel, however, even if that cle@® not raised previousht trial or on appeal.
Massaro v. United States, 538 U.S. 500, 504 (2003).

The Supreme Court i@rickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), set forth a two-
pronged test to determine whether a lawyegsesentation was constiibnally ineffective.

UnderSrickland, to prevail on an inefféiwe assistance claim, a defendant must demonstrate



both (1) that his counsel's perfoance “fell below an objectiveastdard of reasonableness,” and
(2) “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defenkk.at 687-91. This is known as the
“cause and prejudice testld. at 697. To satisfy the performance prong, the petitioner must
show that counsel’s performance was “outdltewide range of professionally competent
assistance.’ld. at 690. To satisfy the prejudice prong, tliefendant “must show that there is a
reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding
would have been different.l'd. at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to
undermine confidence in the outcoméd. Thus, the mere possibility that a particular

deficiency might have prejudicede defendant is not enough.

[Il.  Discussion

A. Procedural Bar to Rosario’s Claims

As a threshold matter, the government arghasRosario is procedurally barred from
raising many of his claims, because he did not pursue them on direct @puetiey are not
claims for ineffective assistance of counsel.e Glovernment asserts that Rosario is also barred
from amending his petition to add new claims¢éuse those claims could have been brought in
his original section 2255 petitiaand do not relate back to theichs contained therein. Rosario
contends that the court should consthigeclaims liberally because hepio se, and that under a
liberal standard of interpretation all of his claieffectively can be read as ineffective assistance
of counsel claims. Although many of Rosariofaims appear to have been procedurally
defaulted, | will apply the “liberal standard of interpretation” to whpohise pleadings are

entitled and assume Rosario’s groufatsrelief all raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

2 Rosario’s appeals to the Second Circuit challengedtbalgenial of credit for accemce of responsibility under
U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1 and the conclusion that he was not eligible for relief under the “safety valve” of U.S.S.G. 88
2D1.1(b)(6) and 5C1.2(a)see Def.’s 2002 Appellate Brief, Docket N62-1543(L); Def.’s 2006 Appellate Brief,
Docket No. 06-5655-cr.



See Chang v. United Sates, 250 F.3d 79, 86 n. 2 (2d Cir. 200B)|ly-Eko v. United Sates, 8
F.3d 111, 117 (2d Cir. 1993brogated on other grounds by Massaro v. United Sates, 538 U.S.
500 (2003). Nonetheless, Rasés petition fails for the reasons detailed below.

B. Failure to Communicate Plea Offer

Rosario’s first ground for relief alleges thas trial attorneyRobert Sullivan, was
ineffective for failing to informhim of a plea offer that would fa permitted him to plead to a
lesser charge. “[A]s a general rule, defense selUmas the duty to communicate formal offers
from the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions that may be favorable to the
accused.”Missouri v. Frye, 132 S. Ct. 1399, 1408 (2012 also Phamv. United States, 317
F.3d 178, 183 (2d Cir. 2003) (“There is no digptitat failure to convey a plea offer is
unreasonable performance.”). The facts, howevertheotaw, doom this fitgground for relief.

Rosario asserts that the government offett@dugh trial counsel, to permit him to tender
a guilty plea to a violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841()§B) in return for a dismissal of the section
841(b)(1)(A) charge. In response, the governmeabinitted an affidavit from Sullivan, which
states that he recalls receiviogly two proposed plea offers, iretfiorm of letters from the U.S.
Attorney’s office. The letters, dated May aid July 31, 2001, arertually identical in
substance and neither mentions dismissal of¢letion 841(b)(1)(A) chge. To the contrary;
consistent with section 841)()(A), both letters offer tollw Rosario to plead guilty to
conspiracy to possess with intent to distribut®@,§rams or more of heroin. Both also state
that the applicable penalties include a yea+r mandatory minimum sentence, which is
consistent only with section 841(b)(1)(A) and wnath section 841(b)(1)(B). Sullivan’s affidavit
notes that the letters are futtpnsistent with his recollecin of the government’s pre-trial

position and that he did not recalty offer to allow Rosario to @hd to a lesser quantity than the



1,000 grams charged in the indictment.

Rosario does not claim that an alternaea offer existed. Ilsicontention that the
government’s offers permitted him to plead guitt section 841(b)(1)(B) likely stems instead
from the first page of the May 17 letter, whicliers to section 841(b)(1B) instead of section
841(b)(1)(A). The government, however, persudgigegues that this veaa typographical error
that did not alter the substance of the prop@ggdement. As evidence, the government points
to another plea agreement filed in this matter, signed by co-defendant Nelson Carrasquillo on
August 15, 2001, in which the same error appeahedhat situation, tb error was corrected
with a hand-written cross-out and substitute “(Bgfore filing. Becausthe substantive terms
of the May 17 letter are consistent with sext841(b)(1)(A), nosection 841(b)(1)(B), it appears
that the government made the same mistake in Rdsaase. Despite the error, it is clear that
Rosario would not have been given the @ptio plead guilty t@ection 841§)(1)(B).

Rosario also asserts that,atwver the terms of the government’s offers, he never saw or
discussed the May 17, 2001 letéerd only reviewed the cover sheet of the July 31, 2001 letter,
without his attorney present. Rosario states tie went to Sullivan’s office for a meeting in
August 2001, to discuss the government’s offer,Sullivan was not available to review the
offer with him. Instead, Sullivan’s secretary laftopy of the plea agreement for him to review,
on his own. Rosario asserts thalli@an did not subsequently digss the terms of the offer with
him and that he never tried to persuade Rosanmead guilty. Consequently, the offer lapsed,
depriving Rosario of the opportunity to re@uus sentencing exposure and to receive
consideration for acceptance of responsibility.

In his affidavit, Sullivan counters that bescussed both letters with Rosario, and that he

spoke with Rosario many times over the counfsthe case aboutgrding, cooperating, and



trying to arrange a favorable resolutiortioé case. Rosario himself acknowledged in a
statement submitted at the time of his sentencing that he knew before trial that the government
had offered two proposed plea agreements andhéhavas stunned” to learn of the “staggering
number of years in jail thatéhgovernment was seeking.” Rdedelt that the government’s
position was based on incorrect information, and thezafgected the offers and opted for trial.

Yet, even if Rosario was not aware ofdwt not fully comprehend the terms of the plea
offers, he has not shown that\was prejudiced by his attorney’s failure to keep him informed.
First, as discussed above, both letters exteraffanto plead guilty to conspiracy to possess
with intent to distribute 1,000 grams or morehefoin in violation of 21 U.S.C. 8841(b)(1)(A),
an offense carrying a mandatory minimum of years’ imprisonment and a maximum of life
imprisonment. That is the exact offense that a jury eventually found that Rosario committed,
beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the terms déttegs are consistent with the offense with
which Rosario was actualisharged and convicted.

Second, any variation in the calation of Rosario’s sentenciele to his decision to go to
trial did not prejudice Rosario. Boletters contemplate a totdfense level of forty, reflecting a
base level of thirty-eighfs two-point firearm enhancement, a three-point supervisor
enhancement, and a three-point reductioraémeptance of responsibility. The corresponding
Guidelines range in the letters is 292 to 3@Hths’ imprisonment. That is higher than the
Guidelines range that | applied at sentenciAgsentencing, | calculate@osario’s base offense
level as 36 and applied the government’s proposeepoint firearm enhancement. | denied
credit for acceptance of responsibility unte$.S.G. 8§ 3E1.1, because Rosario put the
government to its burden of proof at trial, and also declioegpply the government’s proposed

three-point role enhancement. As a result, Ro'satotal offense level was thirty-eight and his



Guidelines range was 235 to 293 months’ imprisonmerasario’s sentence of 240 months'’
imprisonment is at the loend of that range.

Rosario therefore fared bettéian he would have ifhad accepted the Guidelines
calculation set forth in the Mdl7 and July 31 offers. Moreover, he fared no worse than he
would have if | had declined to apply thegérpoint role enhancement but otherwise accepted
the terms of the pleatters at sentencing. If that hadcorred, Rosario’s total offense level
would have been thirty-sevébase offense level thirtyight, plus two-point firearm
enhancement, minus three points for acceptahoesponsibility) and his Guidelines range
would have been 210 to 262 months’ impris@mt. Rosario’s sentence of 240 months’
imprisonment falls squarely within that rangeaportantly, | did not sentence Rosario at the
bottom of his calculated Guidelines range artirdit reduce his sentenaen presented with
the opportunity to do so following h@rosby remand. | was able to sentence Rosario to the
appropriate sentence; that sentence fell within battcalculated Guidelines range as well as the
lowest Guidelines range that would have heslifrom acceptance of a plea offer. Thus,
Rosario’s ineffective assistance of counselnalaecessarily fails, becag@ his sentence would
not have been affected and therefore the second praigadand has not been metJnited
Satesv. Jones, 455 F.3d 134, 151 (2d Cir. 2006) (noting thath prongs must be met in order
for a petitioner to prevail on an ifiective assistance of counsel claim).

C. Failure to Object to Two-Levelrhancement for Possession of a Firearm

Rosario’s second ground for relief allegeatthis counsel was ineffective for failing to
object to the two-point firearm enhancemeAtthough Rosario’s attorneglid not challenge the
firearm enhancement on appeal, it cannot betkaithis attorney’s failure to do so was

objectively unreasonable. An attorney need nosyeiall potential issues on appeal; rather the

% Both letters assume a criminal history categoﬁyd,lextal to which | depastl down at sentencing.



decision concerning what issues to appeal iddetthe professional disetion of the attorney.
Such decisions may be second-guessed in a callattack only if it appars that the attorney
“omitted significant and obvious issues while punguissues that were clearly and significantly
weaker.” Mayo v. Henderson, 13 F.3d 528, 533 (2d Cir. 1994). The other claims pursued by
Attorney Sullivan — lack of reduction for acceptanteesponsibility and lack of safety-valve
reduction — were not “clearlynd significantly weaker” than épotential firearm enhancement
claim.

Evidence at trial and sentencing cleathypwed that Rosario possessed a gun in the
course of his commission of the offenggosario claims that, vém applying the firearm
enhancement, | improperly relied on testimony @b-defendant who was not credible, because
he received a downward departure for substbasisistance. Assessitige credibility of a
witness, however, “is distinctly éhprovince of the district court.United States v. Beverly, 5
F.3d 633, 642 (2d Cir. 1993). | found the releuastimony credible, concluded that Rosario
did possess a gun, and accordiraggessed a two-level enhancemettad his counsel raised
the issue on appeal, Rosario wontit have obtained relief. Theoe&, counsel’s decision not to
object to or appeal the firearm enhaneetrwas neither objectively unreasonable nor

prejudicial.

D. Failure to Object to Governmentowing Use of Untruthful Testimony
Rosario’s third ground for religflleges that his counsel wiagffective at trial and on
appeal for failing to challenge the governt®knowing use of untruthful testimony. That
claim is meritless. Rosario does not offer apgcific facts supporting assertion either that
Frank Estrada or another government witnesses testified falsely, or that the government

knowingly offered such false testimony. Tlaek of specifics renders Rosario’s claim
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insufficient on its face, making unnecessary to proceed t&aickland inquiry.

E. Failure to Object to Government Inducements to Withesses

Rosario’s fourth ground for relief alleges tiné counsel was ineffective at trial and on
appeal for failing to challenge the constitutiotyatif the government’s offering of inducements
to witnesses in exchange for their testimofosario argues that the government’s case was
built solely on “purchased testimony” garnetbtbugh promises of leniency, and he requests
that | take judicial notice ahe number of 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e) and section 5K1.1 motions filed
by the government.

Circuit courts around the country have Idredd that an accontipe withess who has
been promised a reduced sentence in returnisaiestimony may testify consistent with the Due
Process Clause, as long as the governmentdidbloses its bargain so that the jury may
evaluate the witness’ credibilitySee United States v. Sngleton, 165 F.3d 1297, 1301 (10th Cir.
1999) en banc); United Sates v. Cervantes-Pacheco, 826 F.2d 310, 315 (5th Cir. 19880(
banc) (“No practice is more ingraidin our criminal justice system than the practice of the
government calling a witness who is an accessory to the crime for which the defendant is
charged and having that witness testify uradptea bargain that promises him a reduced
sentence.”)see also United States v. Persico, 832 F.2d 705, 717 (2d Cir. 1987We have
confidence in the jury’s ability to assess counsagiguments about the infeat unreliability of
‘purchased’ testimony, and to evaluate witness’ credibiliy accordingly.”).

In this case, several government witnesgexe required by theirooperation agreements
to testify truthfully in return for a motion kthe government for a reded sentence. Rosario
makes no claim that those agreements were nguatiely disclosed; to ¢hcontrary, he states

that his attorney knew of the agreementsfeBge counsel was able to present substantial
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evidence bearing on prosecution witnesses’ cretyiltiirough cross-examination; therefore, the
jury was able to evaluate the credibilitytbéir testimony. The use of such testimony does not
rise to a due process violationdemonstrate the substantiahi@ of any other constitutional
right. Counsel’'s performance cannot be adered objectively unremnable and therefore
ineffective in this regard.

F. Failure to Object to Breach of Rightdary Determination of All Facts Essential
to Sentencing

Rosario’s fifth ground for relief alleges tHas counsel was ineffective at sentencing and
on appeal for failing to object the violation of his onstitutional right to hae a jury determine
all essential facts. Rosario maintains thatchisstitutional rights were violated when the court,
not the jury, determined the quantity of dragsibutable to him under the Guidelines.

The Supreme Court has held that every element of a crime “must be charged in the
indictment, submitted to a jury, and proventbg Government beyond a reasonable doubt.”
Jonesv. United States, 526 U.S. 227, 232 (1999). The holdinglames, however, does not
preclude a district court fronoasidering drug quantity in deteining a defendant’s relevant
conduct for sentencing purposes pursuarthe Sentencing GuidelineSee United Satesv.
Thomas, 274 F.3d 655, 663-64 (2d Cir. 200District courts are permitted to engage in judicial
fact finding that does not affetite applicable statutory rangépunishmentyithout running
afoul of the Sixth AmendmentSee Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000)

(“[N]Jothing . . . suggests that it is impermissible for judges to exercise discretion — taking into
consideration various factordang both to offense and offder — in imposing a judgment
within the range prescribed by statute.”) (emphasis in original)).

It is well established that once a charged statutory threshold quantity has been admitted

by the defendant through a plea or found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, the sentencing
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court determines by a preponderarof the evidence the quantitylie used when calculating the
base offense level and overall Guidelines rarfgge.United States v. Vaughn, 430 F.3d 518,
526-28 (2d Cir. 2005). When a judgentences a defendant to mrte@f imprisonment within

the statutory range authorized by a jury verdied uses the now-advisory Guidelines to
calculate the exact sentence, ghirno due process violatiofee id. (citing United States v.
Booker, 543 U.S. 220, 245 (2005)ge also United Satesv. Belfast, 611 F.3d 783, 827 (11th

Cir. 2010) (“Under an advisory guidelines regjmulicial fact-findingabout relevant conduct
that supports a sentence within the statutory maximum gktifothe United States Code does
not violate the Sixth Amendment.”)).

In this case, Rosario was charged in Coumelve of the Third Superseding Indictment
with conspiring to possess with intent tgtdbute in excess of 1,000 grams of heroin, in
violation of 21 U.S.C. 88 844aj(1), 841(b)(1)(A), and 8465ece United Sates v. Rosario, No.
3:00-cr-00227-SRU-14 (doc. # 473). The jury catedl him on that count, completing a verdict
form that indicated a unanimous finding thatsRo’s participation ithe conspiracy involved
1,000 grams or more of heroin. Under thatusggtRosario faced a mandatory minimum of ten
years’ imprisonment and a maximum of life imprisonment.

Pursuant to the well-settled law of this Ciit¢ | then determined, by a preponderance of
the evidence, the precise quantf heroin involved in Rosaris offense and calculated the
corresponding base offense level. Rosario’s €inds range, based on his criminal history and
the quantity of heroin attributabte him, was within the statutprange of ten yars to “life.”

Thus, there was no violation Bfosario’s constitutional dygocess rights, and Attorney

Sullivan was not ineffective for failing to r@isind object to the cais factfinding.
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G. Failure to Object to Violation dRight to Grand Jury Indictment

Rosario’s sixth ground for relief alleges tisatllivan was ineffetive at sentencing and
on appeal for failing to object tbe violation of his right to a gnd jury indictment, insofar as
Rosario was not charged with a firearm offenget he received a firearm enhancement at
sentencing. Although not a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, Rosario’s motion to
amend his section 2255 petition seeks to bothterclaim by citing to the Supreme Court’s
recent decision idlleyne v. United States, 133 S. Ct. 2151 (2013), wiiceversed the Court’'s
holding inHarrisv. United Sates, 536 U.S. 545 (2002), and heldtlany fact that increases a
defendant’s mandatory minimum sentence isedement” of the offense, not a “sentencing
factor” that a judge may find bymeponderance of the evidenddleyne builds on the Court’s
precedent iApprendi, which held that other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that
increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to
a jury and proved beyond a reasonable doAbprendi, 530 U.S. at 490.

Courts have consistently recognized tathancements under the Sentencing Guidelines,
such as the two-level enhancemfam possession of a firearm @onnection with a drug offense
under U.S.S.G. § 2D1.1(b)(1), are simply sentencing factors. Noththg Bupreme Court’s
decision inAlleyne alters that conclusich.See Alleyne, 133 S. Ct. at 2163 (“We have long
recognized that broad sentencing discretion, inéatioy judicial factfindag, does not violate the
Sixth Amendent.”)see also Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 481. To the extent that they do not increase
the defendant’s mandatory minimum sentenclead to a sentence beyond the statutory
maximum, such Guidelines enhancements are properly determined by the sentencing court by a

preponderance of the evidence, witthie overall statutory frameworlSee Vaughn, 430 F.3d at
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526-28 (addressing Guidelines calculations basethorotics quantity, andoting the continuity
of this framework preéBooker and postBooker, with the exception that courts must now consider
the Guidelines advisory).

Regarding the two-point firearm enhan@ courts have long recognized that
possession of a firearm during the commissiondrug offense “may fairly be considered by
the court as a factor bearing on the extergusfishment,” rather than an element of the
substantive crime, which must be charged aitfdictment and “established to the satisfaction
of the jury beyond a reasonable doubtlhited States v. McGhee, 882 F.2d 1095, 1098 (6th Cir.
1989);see also United Satesv. Bjorkman, 270 F.3d 482, 493 (7th Cir. 2001) (collecting cases
and holding that section 2D1.}(b), which places burden on detfant to show that it was
clearly improbable that a weapon was connewiti¢lal the offense, is consistent with the
guarantee of due process). Thus, Rosario’s t@imdictment by a grand jury was not violated
and, consequently, Attorney Sullivan was not ineffediivdailing to object to the enhancement.

H. Failure to Object to Lack of Downweh Departure for Minimal Participation

Rosario’s seventh ground for relief alleges that Sullivan was ineffective for failing to
object to or appeal my refudal depart downward based on Rdga minimal participation in
the conspiracy. Rosario conterttlat a sentencing reduction swaarranted, because he played
only a “routine” role in the conspiracy and mo$his participation occurred while he was a
minor. Moreover, Rosario maintains that hewd have been prosded under the Juvenile
Delinquency Act (“*JDA”), 18 U.S.C. § 503&t seq., which would have resulted in a much lower
sentence.

The law does not support Rosario’s contentiat e should have been prosecuted under

“The Second Circuit has held tha&dteyne did not announce a new rule of law made retroactive on collateral
review.” United Satesv. Redd, 735 F.3d 88, 91-92 (2d Cir. 2013). Therefore, Rosafib&yne claim would fail
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the JDA. The Second Circuit has stated thatJDA does not apply #conspiracy crime

merely because a defendant committed some of the charged offenses prior to his eighteenth
birthday, if other illegal conduct chargedthe indictment was committed as an adte, e.qg.,

United Statesv. Wong, 40 F.3d 1347, 1365-66 (2d Cir. 199dgfendants committed RICO
offenses while they were juveniles, but continued to do so after their eighteenth birthdays, thus
offenses were not subject to JDA). And, theord does not support Rosario claims that | did

not consider his “minor role” diung sentencing. To the contrahgave careful consideration to

the scope of Rosario’s offense.

At the initial sentencing, afteexamining all of the relevant facts, | concluded that
Rosario had committed “an extremely serious etfbased on his involvement in sessions that
resulted in fifteen kilograms of heroin beidtributed on the streets of Bridgeport, which
“destroyed a lot of lives.” Hr'g Tr. 69 (Sept. 27, 2002jhjted Satesv. Rosario, No. 3:00-cr-
00227-SRU-14 (doc. # 1123). | noted, however, that Rosario “did in [my view] have limitations,
strict limitations on [his] involvement in thiospiracy” which had an impact on the appropriate
sentenceld. at 69-70. On th€rosby remand, | reaffirmed that | Hdconsidered the nature and
circumstances of the offense,” including “th@ura of the criminal activity, the substantial
amount of drugs sold by this organization, theaet of the crime on the community . . . [and]
Rosario’s role in it.”Hr'g Tr. 52-53 (Nov. 30, 2006)Jnited Satesv. Rosario, No. 3:00-cr-
00227-SRU-14 (doc. # 1567).

Having given due consideration to all releva@htencing factors, it is within the district
court’s discretion to determine the weight giveéaezh in determination of the final sentence.
See United Satesv. Fernandez, 443 F.3d 19, 32 (2d Cir. 2006) (“The weight to be afforded any

given argument made pursuant to one of the § 35%8¢8)rs is a matter firmly committed to the

even if the firearms enhancement constituted an “eltje_n7mérhlﬁe offense instead of a “sentencing factor.”



discretion of the sentencing judge and is beyond@tiew, as long as the sentence ultimately
imposed is reasonable in light of all the ciraiamces presented.”). Although Rosario offered
no substantive reasonableness argument oragppe Second Circuit has already heldy
sponte, that Rosario’s sentence, whitell near the bottom of thBuidelines range applicable
after a downward departure, was reasonaBt&sario, 280 F. App’x at 80 (citindrernandez, 443
F.3d at 27). That holding undets Rosario’s argument thasthtounsel was unreasonable and
therefore ineffective.

Again, an attorney need nptirsue all potential issues appeal; the decision concerning
what issues to appeal is l&ftthe professional discretion oftlattorney. Such decisions may
only be second-guessed in a collateral attackapjtears that the attorney “omitted significant
and obvious issues while pursgiissues that were clearly and significantly weak&tdyo, 13
F.3d at 533. The other claims pursued by AggrBullivan certainly were not “clearly and
significantly weaker” than arguing the meritlessicls addressed here. Had Attorney Sullivan
raised those issues on appeal, Rosario woulthanat obtained relief. Therefore, counsel’s
decision not to appeal Guidelines issues rdladeRosario’s role in the offense was neither
deficient nor prejudicial to Rosario.

|. Failure to Object that Sentence Cituged Cruel or Unusual Punishment

Rosario’s eighth ground for relief asserts thiatcounsel was ineffective for not arguing
that a 240-month sentence constitutes crueuandual punishment inofation of the Eighth
Amendment in these circumstas and violates the mandate of 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) that a
sentence be sufficient but mgrieater than necessary to aski¢he goals of sentencing.

Rosario’s twenty-year sentence clearly fallthin constitutional bounds. The Supreme

Court has held that a sentence of life impmiment without parole for a first offense of
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possession of less than two pounds of cocainenetasruel and unusual punishment in violation
of the Eighth AmendmentHarmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957 (1991). The Second Circuit has
also held that a sentence of life imprisonnfent serious drug tfixcking offense does not
constitute cruel and unusual punishmesge United Satesv. Torres, 941 F.2d 124, 128 (2d Cir.
1991);United Satesv. Valdez, 16 F.3d 1324, 1334 (2d Cir. 1994) (“sentences of life
imprisonment for narcotics dealers are not ‘cared unusual’ within the meaning of the Eighth
Amendment”). Under Second Circuit precedent, even a sentence that “exceed|[s] any
conceivable life expectancy afconvicted defendant,” will nwiolate the Eighth Amendment’s
prohibition against cruel and urugd punishment, if “based on a proper application of the
Sentencing Guidelines or statutpmandated consecutive termdJnited Satesv. Yousef, 327
F.3d 56, 163 (2d Cir. 2003).

Rosario received a sentence that was wédhvibdéife imprisonment and also near the
bottom of the Guidelines rangeath found applicable in Rosaretase. Moreover, as | noted
on remand, “I depart[ed] from the sentencingdglines and, frankly . . . gave Rosario the
benefit of the doubt on certain guideline emtement questions.” Hr'g Tr. 52-53 (Nov. 30,
2006),United Satesv. Rosario, No. 3:00-cr-00227-SRU-14. | imposed a sentence that |
believed fairly and justly accountéak all of the factors set fth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). And,
as noted above, the Second Circuit has alreadgwed Rosario’s sentence and held it to be
both procedurally and sutasitively reasonableRosario, 280 F. App’x at 80. Thus, his 240-
month sentence is not “cruel and unugualishment” under the Eighth Amendment and does
not violate the mandate of 18%JC. § 3553(a). Attorney Sullivan was not ineffective for failing

to make such arguments at sentencing or on appeal.
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J. Habeas Relief Based on Amendments to Sentencing Guidelines

Rosario’s first amendment to his section 225ttipe (doc. # 11) asserts that revisions to
Section 5H of Sentencing Guidelines, whicmtvwato effect on November 1, 2010, would have
permitted fuller consideration at sentencing offdet that he became involved in the conspiracy
at a young age, due to his “erratic home lifR8dsario contends that “[n]o consideration was
given in regard to this factor when [hehs sentenced because without the Sentencing
Commission Guidelines allowing &, it could not be done.” Hadicates that he should be
resentenced in a manner consistent wighrtbw provisions. Rosario is mistaken.

First, Rosario has no basis to avail himséldny changes to the Guidelines enacted
approximately eight years after hisxgencing (and four years after I@sosby remand). Nothing
in the revisions indicates thatehprovide for retroactive applitan with respect to the changes
regarding consideration for specific offender characterises United States Sentencing
Commission, Sentencing Geilthes for United StateSourts, 75 FR 27388-01, 2010 WL
1923584 (May 14, 2010) (notice of submission tm@ress of amendments to the Sentencing
Guidelines effective November 1, 2010). &=it, Rosario has overlooked the decision on his
Crosby remand, in which | held that his sentences\Wa appropriate and just sentence, under all
of the statutory sentencing facs, irrespective of any conaints imposed by the formerly
mandatory Guidelines. Hr'g Tr. 52-53 (Nov. 30, 20Q&)ited Sates v. Rosario, No. 3:00-cr-
00227-SRU-14. | stated explicitit that time that in imposing the sentence, | had considered,
among other things, “the factaisat 18 U.S.C. section 3553(ajjtéres [the Court] to weigh,
[including] the characteristicof the defendant,” and spgcally mentioned that | had
“considered the fact that he had been active amtsg@at school, [and] that he had not had a prior

criminal record before this, before this crime . .1d.” Similarly, at the initial sentencing in
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2002, | noted repeatedly that | had consideresalRo’s age and other personal circumstances in
setting his sentencesee Hr'g Tr. 69-70 (Sept. 27, 2002)Ynited Sates v. Rosario, No. 3:00-cr-
00227-SRU-14 (noting, for example, that defendarriimie was surprisingly serious given “your
age, your age at the time you were doing,tlaed emphasizing that, among the factors
weighing in the defendant’s favarere the fact that “this is your first offense as a practical
matter [and] you're a young man”).

Finally, once again, Rosario’s claim is underoy the Second Circts holding that his
sentence, which fell near the bottom of the mlegiarture Guidelines range, was substantively
reasonableRosario, 280 F. App’x at 80. Accordingly, this groufat relief fails on the merits.

K. Failure to Object to Lack dRepresentation at Arraignment

Rosario’s second motion to amend (doc. #&#®erts that his Sixth Amendment right to
counsel was violated becausewss not represented by an attorney on December 7, 2000, when
he entered a plea of not guiltiRosario cites to docket entry 3ifilthe underlying criminal case,
which he believes indicates that his ateyrmvas appointed on February 27, 2001. Assuming
that Rosario is not procedurally barred from raigihis claim after failing to do so in his initial
section 2255 petition, the record demonstrtas Rosario’s asséoh is erroneous.

The docket entry to which Rosario citektes to interim payments for CJA counsel
already appointed to represent Rosario anddvdefendants. The court’s docket notes and
Sullivan’s affidavit both indicate that Sullivan was added as Rosario’s attorney on December 7,

2000, the date of his arremtd initial appearance That is in accordance with Rule 44 of the

® Rosario’s arraignment actually did rextcur until February 1, 2001 and Rosario entered a plea of not guilty on that
date, not December 7, 2008ee Notice of ArraignmentUnited Satesv. Rosario, No. 3:00-cr-00227-SRU-14 (doc.

# 242). Rosario ultimately was tried and convicted on the Third Superseding Indié¢tin@tc. #473), however,

and he was arraigned on that indictment on, on July 6, 28&id., Notice of Arraignment (doc. # 537). Rosario
does not dispute that he was represented by counsel on the date he entered a plea of not guilty on the Third
Superseding Indictment.
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Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, whichittss Rosario “to have counsel appointed to
represent [him] at every stage of the proceethog initial appearance through appeal.” Fed. R.
Crim. P. 44(a).

The only docket entry that could be reagtipport Rosario’s ass®n that counsel was
not appointed until after his guilty plea i€dA 20 form, docketed on March 2, 2001 and the
corresponding text entry, whichlabeled “CJA as to Ricardo Bario: Appointment of Attorney
Robert Sullivan.” See United Satesv. Rosario, No. 3:00-cr-00227-SRU-14 (doc. # 360). The
CJA 20 form, however, is filed t&r an attorney is appointe@ee Notice to Newly Appointed
CJA Attorney, http://www.ctd.uscourts.gov/sitdefault/files/forms /INTC-NewAppt.pdf (last
visited December 11, 2014). Thus, the fact $hativan’s CJA 20 form was not docketed until
after he was appointed to repgas Rosario is neither surprisingr problematic. There is no
support for Rosario’s contention tha did not have counsel pritr his entry of a plea and his
Sixth Amendment rights were neiblated in this regard.

L. Failure to Object to Violation of the Speedy Trial Act

Finally, Rosario’s second motion to ametidges that his rights to a speedy trial were
violated. Pursuant to the SplyeTrial Act of 1974, 18 U.S.C. § 3164t,seg., a criminal
defendant who enters a plea of not guilty mudbtmeight to trial withirseventy days “from the
filing date (and making public) of the informationindictment, or from the date the defendant
has appeared before a judicial officer of ¢toert in which such charge is pending, whichever
date last occurs.” 18 U.S.C. § 3161(c)&bg also United Satesv. Tinklenberg, 131 S. Ct. 2007
(2011). The seventy-day clockdies running on the day afterettriggering event occurs.
United Satesv. Nixon, 779 F.2d 126, 130 (2d Cir. 1985). The Speedy Trial Act, however,

“excludes from the 70-day period delays doieertain enumerated eventdloate v. United
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States, 559 U.S. 196, 199 (2010) (citing 18 U.S.C. § 3161(h)).

On October 18, 2001, | issued a Speedy Tridke®with respect to Rosario and his co-
defendants, which found that thember of indictments, defermia, counts and filed motions,
among other things, rendered the case unusual and consee®rder Re: Speedy TridUnited
Satesv. Rosario, No. 3:00-cr-00227-SRU-14 (doc. # 723)eighing the vaous statutory
factors, | found that the endsjoktice, including the defendahisterests in effective counsel
and adequate trial representatias well as the court’s interaatthe orderly administration of
justice, outweighed the best interest of pladlic and the defendants in a speedy tridl.(citing
18 U.S.C. 8 3161(h)(7)(B)E(iv)). As a result, | found the period from June 20, 2001, the date
the Third Superseding Indictmenas filed, through thdates of the four trials for Rosario and
his codefendants was not an unreasonable @eldexcluded that peridtbm the computation
of time in which Rosario’s trial was requitéo commence under the Speedy Trial Act.

Thus, there was no Speedy TrialtAwlation in this case.

| have considered the other claims raibgdRosario and conclude they are without
merit®
V. Conclusion

For the reasons set forth above, Rosariddibes] to demonstrate that he was provided
with ineffective assistance of counsel in witdbn of his Sixth Amendent rights or that his
sentence should be vacated, set aside or cedréat any other reaso.herefore, his section

2255 motion is DENIED. A Certificate of Appadiility will not issue, because Rosario has

® Section 2255 requires the district cotarhold a hearing “[u]nless the mati and the files and records of the case
conclusively show that the prisoner igitbed to no relief.” 28 U.S.C. § 225&hang v. United Sates, 250 F.3d 79,
85 (2d Cir. 2001). “[A]lthough a hearing may be warranted, that conclusion does not imply that a mmstant m
always be allowed to appear in a dettcourt for a full hearing if the rect does not conclusively and expressly
belie his claim, no matter how vague, conclusory, or palpably incredible his allegatiobg fh&y: (citing
Machibroda v. United States, 368 U.S. 487, 495 (1962)). @hang, the Second Circuit affirmed the dismissal of a
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failed to make a “substantial showing of thaidéof a constitutional right.” 28 U.S.C. 8§
2253(c)(2). Rosario has not demtrated that “reasonable juristeuld debate whether . . . the
petition should have been resolved in a difiémanner or that the issues presented were
adequate to deserve encowagnt to proceed furtherRhagi v. Artuz, 309 F.3d 103, 106 (2d
Cir. 2002) (quotingdack v. McDaniel, 529 U.S. 473, 484 (2000)). The clerk shall enter
judgment and close the case.

It is so ordered.

Dated at Bridgeport, Connectictitis 12th day of December 2014.

/s/ STEFAN R. UNDERHILL
Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge

section 2255 petition in a situation like this one, wherbesring was held but the record was “supplemented by a
detailed affidavit from trial counsel credibdlescribing” the relevant circumstanced.
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